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The Old Nogales City Hall and Fire Station, designed by Tucson architect Henry 0. 
Jaastad and constructed in 1914, is a two-story Mission Revival Style building featuring 
a prominent clock tower.

Located on Grand Avenue in Nogales, the building occupies an irregularly-shaped lot 
a few yards away from the International Boundary between the United States and Mexico. 
The building, which is basically wedge-shaped, stands at the south end of a row of 
adjoining commercial properties facing Grand Avenue. In conformance with the shape 
of the lot on which it stands, the building narrows from its 52-foot-wide north 
facade, which is obscured by the adjoining property, to its 28-foot-wide south facade, 
from which a clock tower rises. The east facade of the building is 105 feet long and 
the west facade measures 121 feet in length.

Rising two stories in height from foundations of reinforced concrete, the exterior 
walls are of brick finished with concrete stucco. Covering the building is a roof 
of metal tiles painted to simulate terra cotta tiles. The roof is gabled at the 
north end of the building, hipped at the south end, and topped by a flattened ridge. 
At the north end, the exterior walls rise to form a broad curvilinear gable, and the 
roof line is pierced by two smaller curvilinear gables, one rising from the midpoint 
of the east facade and exhibiting a trefoil vent opening, and one rising from the 
midpoint of the west facade, pierced by a quatrefoil vent opening. Roof eaves rest 
on exposed rafters extending well beyond the exterior walls. A single chimney projects 
from the roof ridge, toward the south facade of the structure.

The first story of the building is arcaded, with each semicircular arch enclosing 
either a window or doorway. Over the years some windows have been partially blocked 
in and some doorways have been converted to windows. The arches are visually connected 
by a beltcourse and impost molding. Circular-shaped molding graces the spandrels 
between all the arches, and molding in the shape of a lozenge tops one arch on the 
south facade and one on the east facade. Seven of the first-floor arches still contain 
multiple-paned semicircular transoms, whereas the transoms in eight other arches have 
been filled in with various materials. Two of the arches, located on the west facade, 
have been practically obliterated by the installation of a motor-driven rolling door 
which provided access to the fire engine bay.

At the second-story level, fourteen tripart windows provide light to the interior. 
Most of the windows consist of 16-over-l double hung central openings flanked by 
narrower 8-over-l double hung side openings, all rectangular in shape. Second-story 
windows rest on a beltcourse that visually separates the first and second stories.

Just below the curvilinear gable on the west facade, a set of multi-paned french doors 
open onto a second-floor balcony graced by a wrought-iron railing. The balcony is 
supported from above by wrought-iron chains attached to wrought-iron lions' heads, 
one on either side of the doorway. An ornamental wrought-iron balconet graces the 
opening just below the curvilinear gable on the east facade of the structure.
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Located at the southwest corner of the structure, a square clock tower rises to form 
a vented octagonal base for a saucer-like dome topped by a finial, upon which rests 
a globe-shaped lamp. Set into the dome are four clock faces, each of them four feet 
in diameter. At the second-story level the clock tower features two sets of french 
doors, each set within a semi circularly-arched opening, and each girded by a 
wrought-iron balconet.

The interior of the building was divided to accommodate the functions of city offices 
and fire station. A large fire engine bay occupies the center of the first floor. 
The remainder of the first-floor rooms were used for city functions, including the 
small jail cell block located along the east side of the building. The second floor 
was used for meeting space, as well as to accommodate the volunteer firemen. A large 
ballroom occupies the northern half of the second floor. Housedin the clock tower 
is a large cast bronze bell which can be operated either automatically by the clock 
mechanism, or manually by a cable leading down into the fire engine bay.

Today, the Old Nogales City Hall and Fire Station stands little changed from its original 
appearance, with the exception of reversible modifications to some of the windows and 
doors. The Pimeria Alta Historical Society is renovating the building for use as an 
historical museum. The Society hopes to restore the building at a later date.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Built in 1914, the Old Nogales City Hall and Fire Station played a vital role in the 
development of the City of Nogales by serving as the community's first permanent Town 
Hall and the first substantial headquarters for the local volunteer fire department.

Early settlement in the area centered on the CarTon de los Nogales ("Walnut Canyon"), a 
narrow tributary canyon of the Santa Cruz River, at the International Boundary between 
the United States and the Mexican State of Sonora. Growth of the settlement was spurred 
by its location at the junction of the New Mexico and Arizona railroad, and the Sonora 
Limited, Mexico's first west coast railroad, which provided access from the United 
States to the Mexican seaport of Guaymas. Both railroads were branches of the Atchinsen, 
Topeka, and Santa Fe Railroad. The New Mexico and Arizona railroad was leased to 
Southern Pacific Railroad in 1897, and was sold to Southern Pacific in 1911. The 
Sonora Limited eventually was nationalized by Mexico and became the Ferrocarril del 
Pacifico.

Crowded together, the first flimsy buildings of the Nogales settlement were particularly 
vulnerable to fire, and organization of a bucket brigade followed closely after the 
1882 arrival of the railroad from the east and establishment of the local post office. 
In 1895 the Nogales Volunteer Fire Department was organized; it consisted of 28 volunteer 
firemen who drilled regularly, held annual efficiency contests, participated in holiday 
parades, and limited actual involvement in firefighting to dues-paying members. 
Captain L. W. Mix, who later served two terms as mayor of Nogales, was elected chief of 
the department.

In 1896 the Volunteer Fire Department purchased a used hand-operated pumper from the 
Town of Tombstone, as well as a hook-and-1adder truck that they housed in a shed next 
to Hogan's Blacksmith Shop. Shortly thereafter, the firemen built an adobe engine 
house with galvanized iron roof and free-standing bell tower. In 1899 when the town 
incorporated, the firemen received a lot on Grand Avenue in the heart of town, upon 
which they constructed a new headquarters for their operations.

In 1906 the Nogales Town Council, which had been previously conducting its meetings in 
the private offices of its members, moved into the Santa Cruz County Courthouse, 
constructed in 1904, five years after the County was officially established with 
Nogales as the County Seat. The Town Council, however, desired a permanent town hall, 
and the volunteer firemen also desired larger quarters. As a result, town officials 
and the Volunteer Fire Department began developing plans for a jointly-funded building 
that would accommodate the needs of both organizations. In 1910, they adopted plans 
prepared by Tucson architect Henry 0. Jaastad, with the agreement that the Fire 
Department would own the structure and rent space to the Town for its offices. The
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